---

No. 24-305

---

Credit Acceptance Corporation,

*Plaintiff-Petitioner,*

v.

Kenneth E. Stanley and Kerry J. Stanley,

*Defendant-Respondents.*

---

On Appeal from Order Denying  
Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration  
Circuit Court of Jackson County, West Virginia  
(The Honorable Lora A. Dyer)

---

**BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-PETITIONER  
CREDIT ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION**

Jason E. Manning (WV Bar No. 11277)  
David M. Asbury (WV Bar No. 12952)  
TROUTMAN PEPPER  
HAMILTON SANDERS LLP  
222 Central Park Avenue, Suite 2000  
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23462  
Telephone: (757) 687-7577  
Facsimile: (757) 687-7510

## **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The circuit court erred when it denied Credit Acceptance Corporation’s (“Credit Acceptance”) motion to compel arbitration on the ground that it waived its right to compel arbitration by initiating a collection action in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, West Virginia. This ruling was erroneous because the circuit court’s findings and conclusions regarding waiver ignored the plain language of the agreement and the binding precedent of *Citibank, N.A. v. Perry*, 797 S.E.2d 803 (W. Va. 2016). Pursuant to such precedent, the circuit court’s decision is directly at odds with the elements necessary to establish implied waiver.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. Introduction**

This appeal arises out of the circuit court’s failure to enforce the plain language of a valid arbitration clause in a Retail Installment Contract and Security Agreement (“Contract”). In February 2020, Credit Acceptance initiated a debt collection action against Respondents Kenneth E. Stanley and Kerry J. Stanley (“Borrowers”) in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, West Virginia. In response, Borrowers filed a pro se Answer acknowledging the debt was owed. Over three years later, Borrowers filed a Motion to Amend their Answer and file a Counterclaim (“Counterclaim”) alleging, among other things, common law fraud, violations of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, and violation of the Truth-in-Lending Act. When Credit Acceptance immediately sought to compel arbitration, the circuit court denied the motion, ruling that Credit Acceptance waived its right to arbitration by initiating the collection action in circuit court. However, the circuit court’s ruling is reversible error because (1) under the arbitration agreement’s binding terms, either party may submit to arbitration “before or after a lawsuit has been started over the Dispute”; (2) either party may submit to arbitration, “with respect to other

Disputes or counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit”; and (3) implied waiver requires an intentional relinquishment of a known right, evidence of which was not reflected in the record.

## **II. The Account and Binding Arbitration Agreement**

Borrowers entered into the Contract with Charleston Mitsubishi (“Dealership” or “Dealer”) on April 17, 2018 to finance the purchase of a 2008 Ford Escape, VIN 1FMCU93168KA18539 (“Vehicle”). (A.R 207). Thereafter, the Contract was assigned to Credit Acceptance. (A.R. 204). The Contract contains a conspicuous, valid, and binding Arbitration Clause, which broadly provides that any dispute between Borrowers and Credit Acceptance arising out of or in any way relating to the Contract is subject to binding arbitration at either party’s election. (A.R.211).

The Arbitration Clause that Borrowers agreed to is unambiguous. It provides that:

Either You or We may require any Dispute to be arbitrated and **may so do before or after a lawsuit has been started over the Dispute or with respect to other Disputes or counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit.** If You or We elect to arbitrate a Dispute, this Arbitration Clause applies. A Dispute shall be fully resolved by binding arbitration.

(A.R. 211) (emphasis added). “Dispute” is defined as *any* controversy or claim:

[A]rising out of or in any way related to this Contract, including, but not limited to, any default under this Contract, the collection of amounts due under this Contract, the purchase, sale, delivery, set-up, quality of the Vehicle, advertising for the Vehicle or its financing, or any product or service included in this Contract.

(A.R. 211). Under the terms of the Arbitration Clause, “Dispute” “shall have the broadest meaning possible, and includes contract claims, and claims based on tort, violations of laws, statutes, ordinances or regulations or any other legal or equitable theories.” *Id.* The crux of the claims asserted by Borrowers are rooted in the Contract. Specifically, Borrowers claim that Credit Acceptance and the Dealer breached the contract by failing to accurately represent the mileage and

value of the Vehicle. These are precisely the types of claims that are covered by the Arbitration Clause Borrowers signed.

Borrowers signed page 2 of the Contract and initialed pages 2 and 4. (A.R. 207-211). They also initialed page 1 of the Contract underneath a paragraph which notified them that the Contract contains an arbitration clause:

**ARBITRATION:** This Contract contains an Arbitration Clause that states You and We may elect to resolve any dispute by arbitration and not by court action. See the Arbitration Clause on Page 5 of this Contract for the full terms and conditions of the agreement to arbitrate. By initialed below, you confirm that you have read, understand and agree to the terms and conditions in the Arbitration Clause.

...  
**ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:** THE ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE SET FORTH ON THE ADDITIONAL PAGES OF THIS CONTRACT ARE A PART OF THIS CONTRACT AND ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE.

(A.R. 207) (bold and caps in original). Borrowers were provided ample notice of the Arbitration Clause, which is governed by the FAA.<sup>1</sup> (A.R. 211)

Not only is the Arbitration Clause unambiguous, it provided Borrowers the right to reject the arbitration forum within thirty (30) days of signing the contract:

**Your Right to Reject: If You don't want this Arbitration Clause to apply, You may reject it by mailing Us at P.O. Box 5070, Southfield, Michigan 48086-5070 a written rejection notice that describes the Contract and tells Us that You are rejecting this Arbitration Clause. A rejection notice is only effective if it is signed by all buyers, co-buyers and cosigners and the envelope that the rejection notice is sent in has a post mark of 30 days or less after the date of this Contract. If You reject this Arbitration Clause, that will not affect any other provision of this Contract or the status of Your Contract. If You don't**

---

<sup>1</sup> The Arbitration Clause expressly states that it is governed by the FAA. (A.R. 211). Notwithstanding this, the Contract involves interstate commerce and thus, the FAA applies. Borrowers purchased and operated the Vehicle in West Virginia. Credit Acceptance is a Michigan corporation with its principal place of business in Michigan. It accepted assignment of the Contract in Michigan. Credit Acceptance has no offices in West Virginia.

**reject this Arbitration Clause, it will be effective as of the date on this Contract.**

*Id.* (bold in original). Borrowers did not exercise their right to reject the Arbitration Clause. Moreover, in signing page 2 of the Contract, Borrowers affirmed that they read, understood, and agreed to the terms of the Contract. (A.R.).

### **III. Procedural Background**

Borrowers eventually defaulted on their payment obligations under the Contract. The Vehicle was repossessed but the sale was insufficient to satisfy the debt. On February 20, 2020, Credit Acceptance filed a collection action against Borrowers to collect the balance owed on the Contract. (A.R. 2). In response, on or about March 3, 2020, Borrowers filed a pro se Answer acknowledging the debt was owed. (A.R. 2). The Borrowers and Credit Acceptance engaged in discovery, Credit Acceptance filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and the circuit court heard oral arguments regarding the Motion for Summary Judgment but never rendered a ruling. A trial was scheduled for December 6, 2023.

Over three years after the Borrower's filed an Answer, in June 2023, attorneys with Mountain State Justice, Inc. filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Borrowers. (A.R. 2). In the same month, the Borrowers filed a Motion for Leave to submit an Amended Answer and Counterclaim Complaint and propounded written discovery requests. (A.R. 2-15). The Counterclaim challenges Credit Acceptance's right to recover the outstanding balance on the Contract based on newly alleged claims. Credit Acceptance denies any wrongdoing set forth in the Counterclaim and further maintains that Borrowers expressly agreed to arbitrate any dispute arising out of, or related to the Contract, upon election by either party.

#### **IV. The Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration**

In August 2023, Credit Acceptance promptly filed the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, citing the plain language of the Arbitration Agreement. (A.R. 108-149). In response, Borrowers offered no evidence to rebut either the existence or terms of the Arbitration Agreement as established by affidavit. (A.R. 242). Nor did Borrowers provide evidence that the Arbitration Agreement was procedurally or substantively unconscionable or that the claims set forth in the Counterclaim fell outside of its scope. (A.R. 295 ¶12). On September 27, 2023, the Court heard oral arguments from both parties in support and opposition to Credit Acceptance's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, including direct arguments regarding the application of the precedent found in *Citibank, N.A. v. Perry*, 797 S.E.2d 803 (W. Va. 2016).

Following a hearing, on January 18, 2024, the circuit court embraced the Borrowers' waiver argument and denied Credit Acceptance's motion, stating:

When applying the totality of circumstances, this Court concluded that CAC waived its right to arbitrate due to the significant passage of time before moving this Court to compel arbitration. Instead of timely exercising that right, CAC only chose to exercise that right when Counterclaimants retained counsel. This Court further notes CAC had no qualms litigating this matter, including engaging in discovery and moving this Court for summary Judgment when Counterclaimants were pro se.

(A.R. 299, ¶ 13). Although the circuit court heard substantial argument regarding the application of *Perry* in briefs and oral arguments, the circuit court's denial does not address these arguments whatsoever. It is from this order, which displays open hostility to arbitration, that Credit Acceptance now appeals.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Arbitration agreements are binding contracts that must be enforced pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). As binding contracts, courts are not permitted to disregard their terms

or rewrite the provisions to change their meaning. Instead, courts are permitted to only determine the threshold issues of whether the agreement is valid and whether the dispute falls within its scope.

Here, the circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on the ground that Credit Acceptance waived its right to arbitrate by initiating the lawsuit in circuit court. In addressing the question, the circuit court ignored the clear language of the Arbitration Agreement which specifically provides:

Either You or We may require any Dispute to be arbitrated and may so do before or **after a lawsuit has been started** over the Dispute or with respect to other Disputes or **counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit**. If You or We elect to arbitrate a Dispute, this Arbitration Clause applies. A Dispute shall be fully resolved by binding arbitration.

(A.R. 211) (emphasis added). Under this clear and unambiguous provision, Credit Acceptance had a contractual right to initiate a collection action and later seek arbitration when Borrowers filed the Counterclaim. Indeed, the Arbitration Agreement further contains a non-waiver provision that provides that Credit Acceptance may file a claim in arbitration “before or after a lawsuit has been started over a Dispute or with respect to other Disputes.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The circuit court was required, under the FAA, to apply ordinary state law principles that govern the formation of contracts. Consequently, the court was also required to treat the Arbitration Agreement like any other contract. When contract terms are clear and unambiguous, they are to be applied and not ignored. The circuit court failed to follow these basic contract principles and as a result, violated Section 2 of the FAA, which mandates that binding Arbitration Agreements and contracts “evidencing a transaction involving interstate commerce. . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.”

The circuit court's order was also contrary to well established federal authority which does not lightly infer waiver given the strong federal policy favoring arbitration. A party asserting waiver is required to shoulder a heavy burden and must demonstrate that the party invoking arbitration so substantially utilized the litigation process that to permit arbitration would prejudice the opposing party, including a showing of actual prejudice. Here, such a showing was not and could not be made. More significantly, arbitration was immediately sought as soon as the Counterclaim was filed. It is the Counterclaim which is the essence of the action, and the invocation of arbitration will not impede Borrowers' ability to timely resolve their claims.

The circuit court's ruling also violated well established state law principles with respect to implied waiver. For implied waiver to occur, a party must intentionally relinquish a known right. Here, Credit Acceptance did not relinquish any rights under the Arbitration Agreement because the agreement clearly permitted either party to invoke arbitration even after a lawsuit was filed and expressly if a Counterclaim is filed. This Court has expressly upheld these arbitration rights in *Citibank, N.A. v. Perry*, 797 S.E.2d 803 (W. Va. 2016). Credit Acceptance was entitled to rely on such binding precedent. Thus, when the original action was initiated in 2020 and even when the counterclaim was filed, there was an existent right for Credit Acceptance to invoke arbitration which had never been relinquished. In other words, Credit Acceptance could not waive its right to compel a counterclaim to arbitration before a counterclaim is even filed because it has an express contractual right to compel arbitration of a counterclaim.

Credit Acceptance requests that this Court reverse this circuit court's order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration and remand the matter with instructions to permit the action to proceed to arbitration with a corresponding stay of proceedings pending the outcome of arbitration.

## **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Credit Acceptance requests oral argument pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS VALID AND MUST BE ENFORCED**

The law of arbitration has been extensively litigated in West Virginia. Indeed, *Perry* is a strikingly similar precedent to the facts of this case and this Court need only to affirm its ruling in order to rule in Credit Acceptance’s favor. 797 S.E.2d 803 (W. Va. 2016). Thus, this Court is well aware of the principles governing the application of the FAA and the recognition that it applies broadly to any transaction directly or indirectly affecting interstate commerce. *See, e.g., Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 115 S. Ct. 834 (1995). Indeed, this Court has recognized that “the federal policy favoring arbitration of disputes requires that a court construe liberally the arbitration clauses to find that they cover disputes reasonably contemplated by the language and to resolve doubts in favor of arbitration.” *See State ex rel. City Holding Co., v. Kaufman*, 216 W.Va. 594, 598, 609 S.E.2d 855, 859 (2004).

Moreover, as the U.S. Supreme Court repeatedly has emphasized, “[u]nderscoring the consensual nature of private dispute resolution . . . parties are ‘generally free to structure their arbitration agreements as they see fit.’” *Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int’l Corp.*, 559 U.S. 662, 683, 130 S. Ct. 1758 (2010) (citations omitted). Thus, “parties may agree to limit the issues subject to arbitration, to arbitrate according to specific rules, and to limit with whom a party will arbitrate its disputes.” *AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. 1740, 1748-49 (2011) (citations omitted). Indeed, the “point of affording parties discretion in designing arbitration processes is to

allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute . . . . And the informality of arbitral proceedings is itself desirable, reducing the cost and increasing the speed of dispute resolution.” *Id.* at 1749. Ultimately, “[i]t falls to courts and arbitrators to give effect to these contractual limitations, and when doing so, courts and arbitrators must not lose sight of the purpose of the exercise: to give effect to the intent of the parties.” *Stolt-Nielsen*, 130 S. Ct. at 1774-75; *EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 289, 122 S. Ct. 754, 151 L. Ed. 2d 755 (2002).

It is within this framework that Credit Acceptance’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration must be analyzed and applied. Significantly, the issue presented is a limited one - was it appropriate for the circuit court to find that Credit Acceptance waived its right to compel arbitration despite clear contractual language permitting invocation of arbitration at any point prior to trial or judgment, particularly when arbitration was immediately sought once the Counterclaim was filed? There was no finding or challenge to the existence of the Arbitration Agreement and its terms. Nor was there any finding of unconscionability or that the Counterclaim fell beyond the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. Therefore, the issue is a straightforward question of basic contract application principles. Application of those contract principles yields the inescapable conclusion that the circuit court’s finding of waiver was plainly wrong. *See, Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc., v. Cardegn*a, 546 U.S. 440 (2006) (recognizing that the FAA places arbitration agreements on equal footing with all other contracts). And, that failure by the circuit court has resulted in a decision which runs afoul of the FAA.

**A. The trial court's finding of waiver was in error and must be reversed.**

1. Under traditional rules of contract application, Credit Acceptance has a clear contractual right to seek arbitration after a lawsuit has been started or with respect to counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit.

As discussed above, the FAA “places Arbitration Agreements on equal footing with all other contracts.” *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardega*, 546 U.S. 440, 443, 126 S. Ct. 1204, 1207 (2006). For this reason, “[w]hen deciding whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a certain matter (including arbitrability), courts generally . . . should apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts.” *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S. Ct. 1920, 1924 (1995). West Virginia recognizes these rules and, when followed, they require that the clear provisions of the Arbitration Agreement be given full effect.

When it comes to interpreting contract language, under West Virginia law, “[t]he court is to enforce and give effect to the unambiguous language and terms of the contract.” *JAS Enters., Inc. v. BBS Enters., Inc.*, 2013 SD 54, P24, 835 N.W.2d 117,125 (S.D. 2013); Syl. Pt. 2, *Citynet, LLC v. Toney*, 235 W. Va.79, 772 S.E.2d 36 (2015) (“Where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, they must be applied and not construed.”). “Unless the language is ambiguous or a different intention is manifested, the language in a contract is to be given its plain and ordinary meaning.” *American State Bank v. Adkins*, 458 N.W.2d 807, 809 (S.D. 1990). In applying unambiguous contract language, “the Court must avoid rewriting the contract; rather, it will be [the Court’s] endeavor to establish the intention of the parties at the time the agreement was made.” *FMB BankShares, Inc. v. Hajek*, 2003 SD 103, p.10, 668 N.W.2d 715, 717 (S.D. 2003); Syl. Pt. 3, *Citynet, LLC*, (“It is not the right or province of a court to alter, pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them.”). To this end, “[a]ll of the contract provisions must be given

meaning if that can be consistently and reasonably done.” *Hajek, Id.*; Syl. Pt. 6, *Columbia Gas Transmission Corp. v. E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 159 W. Va. 1, 217 S.E.2d 919 (1975) (same).

Within the arbitration clause, the Agreement specifically provides: “Either You or We may require any Dispute to be arbitrated and may do so before or **after a lawsuit has been started** over the Dispute or with respect to other Disputes or **counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit.**” (A.R. 211) (emphasis added). Under this provision, Credit Acceptance had the contractual right to initiate the collection action in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, and then seek arbitration when Borrowers filed their Counterclaim.

The only way to affirm the findings and conclusions of the circuit court is to patently rewrite the Arbitration Agreement by deleting the words “after a lawsuit has been started” and “counterclaims brought later in the lawsuit.” This language is clear and unambiguous and must be applied. Indeed, it is impossible to find that Credit Acceptance waived its right to compel counterclaims by the actions that took place *before* the Borrowers filed their Counterclaim because Credit Acceptance had no knowledge of the Counterclaim prior to that time and therefore could not have waived a *known* right. Indeed, the American Arbitration Association’s (“AAA”) continued moratorium on debt collection arbitrations prevents Credit Acceptance from initiating arbitration with them when the only claims at issue were Credit Acceptance’s debt collection claims.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Notice on Consumer Debt Collection Arbitrations, AAA (Feb. 15, 2024, 2:26 PM), [https://www.adr.org/sites/default/files/document\\_repository/Notice%20on%20Consumer%20Debt%20Collection%20Arbitrations%20\(1\).pdf](https://www.adr.org/sites/default/files/document_repository/Notice%20on%20Consumer%20Debt%20Collection%20Arbitrations%20(1).pdf)

Despite the clear precedent requiring the lower court to apply this contractual language, the circuit court failed to analyze this language, nor was it even cited or referenced anywhere in the circuit court's order denying arbitration. Indeed, this language with respect to counterclaims was emphasized in Credit Acceptance's initial brief. (A.R 110). This language was expressly quoted and argued at oral arguments. (A.R. 305). The court simply failed to give these contract clauses any force and rendered the express language of an enforceable agreement meaningless. The result is clear error that this Court must reverse and correct.

2. Under state law implied waiver doctrine, Credit Acceptance did not waive its right to seek arbitration because it did not intentionally relinquish its right to seek arbitration later in the lawsuit or when a counterclaim had been filed.

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