IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 24-305

SCA EFiled: Jul 22 2024
03:10PM EDT
Transaction ID 73744721

CREDIT ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION,

Petitioner-Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant below,

v.

KENNETH E. STANLEY and
KERRY J. STANLEY,

Respondents-Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs below.

RESPONDENTS' RESPONSE BRIEF

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY:

/s/ Bren J. Pomponio
Bren J. Pomponio (WVSB # 7774)
MOUNTAIN STATE JUSTICE, INC.
1217 Quarrier Street
Charleston, WV 23501
Telephone: (304) 344-3144
Facsimile: (304) 344-3145
bren@msjlaw.org
Counsel for Respondents-Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs

July 22, 2024

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

Whether a party’s conduct constitutes a waiver of the right to arbitrate presents a mixed question of fact and law. We set aside the circuit court’s findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous. However, the application of the facts to a legal standard, such as waiver, is a question of law that we review independently of the [circuit] court.

Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 829 N.W.2d 522, 532 (Wisc. Ct. App. 2013) (alteration in original) (citation omitted); *see also, e.g., MicroStrategy, Inc. v. Lauricia*, 268 F.3d 244, 250 (4th

Cir. 2001); *Cain v. Midland Funding*, 452 Md. 141, 150, 156 A.3d 807, 812 (2017). Respondents submit that here too this Court is presented with mixed questions of law and fact. The circuit court’s factual finding that the totality of the circumstances indicates CAC waived its right to arbitration should not be disturbed unless found to be clearly erroneous. The circuit court’s interpretation of the arbitration clause and the legal standard for waiver should be reviewed *de novo*.

B. CAC Waived Its Right to Arbitrate This Dispute.

1. The circuit court properly applied the law of waiver.

Section 2 of the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) provides the contractual right to arbitrate a dispute is only as “enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.” *State ex rel. Barden & Robeson Corp. v. Hill*, 208 W. Va. 163, 168, 539 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2000) (citing *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12).

Arbitration contracts are subject to the same defenses available to any contract, including waiver of rights. Thus, in examining the enforceability of any arbitration agreement, courts must apply general principles of state contract law: “Nothing in the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 2, overrides normal rules of contract interpretation. Generally applicable contract defenses—such as laches, estoppel, **waiver**, fraud, duress, or unconscionability—may be applied to invalidate an arbitration agreement.” Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker*, 229 W. Va. 486, 729 S.E.2d 808 (2012) (quoting Syl. Pt. 9, *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 228 W. Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011)) (emphasis added); *see also AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (reiterating that arbitration clauses are unenforceable if they are void under any state law or equitable principle applicable generally to contracts). Accordingly, courts should analyze a challenge to an arbitration agreement under the basic rules of state law

applicable to contracts generally—including the principle of waiver—or any other contract-based defenses or requirements and may do so without running afoul of the FAA.

Any right—contractual, constitutional, or other—is waived as a matter of law if the evidence demonstrates that a party with knowledge of its right intentionally acted so as to expressly or impliedly relinquish it. *See* Sy. Pt. 1, *Citibank, N.A. v. Perry*, 238 W. Va. 662, 797 S.E.2d 803 (2016); Syl. Pt. 1, *Potesta*, 202 W. Va. at 308, 504 S.E.2d at 135. Unlike the equitable doctrine of estoppel, the legal bar of waiver does not require proof of prejudice or detrimental reliance by the party asserting waiver. *See Potesta*, 202 W. Va. at 315-16, 504 S.E.2d at 142-43 (“The doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the party against whom waiver is sought, and requires that party to have intentionally relinquished a known right. There is no requirement of prejudice or detrimental reliance by the party asserting waiver.”).

CAC argues, contrary to West Virginia law and the law of the United States, that the Stanleys were required additionally to demonstrate prejudice:

A party asserting waiver is required to shoulder a heavy burden and must demonstrate that the party invoking arbitration so substantially utilized the litigation process that to permit arbitration would prejudice the opposing party, including a showing of actual prejudice.

(Pet.’s Br. 7.) CAC misrepresents not only West Virginia law, but federal law as well. In a unanimous decision, the Supreme Court of the United States recently affirmed West Virginia’s longstanding principle that a showing of waiver of arbitration rights does not require a showing of prejudice. *See Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411, 419 (2022). Shockingly, CAC does not cite the landmark *Morgan* decision in its brief at all.

More understandably, CAC also fails to discuss this Court's recent decision concerning waiver of arbitration rights. *See Ampler Burgers Ohio LLC*, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 294, at *33.³ In *Ampler Burgers Ohio LLC*, this Court examined whether a defendant's litigation activities constituted a waiver of its arbitration rights. *See id.*, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 294, at **24-30. Borrowing from the Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, this Court set forth the factors to consider whether a defendant's participation in litigation serves to waive its arbitration rights:

In determining whether a party to an arbitration agreement, usually a defendant, has waived its arbitration right, federal courts typically have looked to whether the party has actually participated in the lawsuit or has taken other action inconsistent with his right; **whether the litigation machinery has been substantially invoked** and the parties were well into preparation of a lawsuit by the time an intention to arbitrate was communicated by the defendant to the plaintiff; whether there has been a long delay in seeking a stay or whether the enforcement of arbitration was brought up when trial was near at hand.

Other relevant factors are whether the defendants have invoked the jurisdiction of the court by filing a counterclaim without asking for a stay of the proceedings [and] whether important intervening steps had taken place[.]

Id., 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 294, at *28 (quoting *Reid Burton Constr., Inc. v. Carpenters Dist. Council*, 614 F.2d 698, 702 (10th Cir. 1980)) (emphasis added). Where the defendant delayed filing a motion to compel arbitration for ten months and only participated in discovery, this Court concluded that the defendant's activities, when considered in their totality, were insufficient to establish waiver. *See Ampler Burgers Ohio LLC*, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 294, at *30. The Court concluded that the consumer had not carried their heavy burden to establish waiver where the party asserting its arbitration rights was a defendant who had been drawn into the civil action and had only participated in discovery.

³ This Court issued its decision in *Ampler Burgers Ohio LLC* five days after Petitioner filed its opening Brief. It is surprising that Petitioner failed to supplement such with reference to this Court's recent waiver decision. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 10(i).

However, the case was apparently a close call. The decision was a product of a three to two majority, with Justice Bunn filing a concurrence in which she further elaborated on how the Court should evaluate a party's litigation activities in the waiver analysis. *See id.* at **30-31 (Bunn, J., concurring). Drawing again on decisions of federal courts, the concurrence explained what type of litigation activities might constitute a waiver of arbitration rights: “**Seeking dispositive rulings** or taking advantage of being in court are evidence of substantially invoking the litigation machinery.” *Id.* at *34 (citing decisions from the United States Courts of Appeals for the Sixth, Eighth, and Ninth Circuits) (emphasis added). This Court has made clear that there are circumstances where a party’s conduct constitutes a waiver of arbitration rights. *Id.* at *25 (“We have held that engagement in litigation activities *can* waive an otherwise valid arbitration agreement.); Syl. Pt. 6, *Parsons*, 237 W. Va. at 138, 785 S.E.2d at 844; *State ex rel. Barden & Robeson Corp.*, 208 W. Va. at 168-69, 539 S.E.2d at 111 (neglect or refusal to demand arbitration constituted waiver of right to compel arbitration). And seeking dispositive rulings, as CAC did here, is the type of conduct this Court has indicated would serve to waive arbitration rights. By availing itself of the litigation machinery and delaying the assertion of its right to arbitration, CAC has undermined the primary purpose for which arbitration is favored: efficiency. *See, e.g., Meyer v. Classified Ins. Corp.*, 507 N.W.2d 149, 155 (Wisc. Ct. App. 1993) (“Conduct which allows an action to proceed to a point where the purpose of arbitration -- to obtain a speedy, inexpensive and final resolution of disputes -- is frustrated is conduct that estops a party from claiming a right to a stay of the proceedings and referral for contractual arbitration.”).

Moreover, the focus of the waiver inquiry is the conduct of the party seeking to compel arbitration. “The common-law doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the party against whom waiver is sought . . .” Syl. Pt. 2, *Parsons*, 237 W. Va. at 142, 785 S.E.2d at 848; *accord Ampler*

Burgers Ohio LLC, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 294, at *25 (“[E]ngagement in litigation activities *can* waive an otherwise valid arbitration agreement.”); Syl. Pt. 2, *Citibank, N.A.*, 238 W. Va. at 662, 797 S.E.2d at 803; *Hoffman*, 133 W. Va. at 713, 57 S.E.2d at 735. CAC argues that this Court should focus on the arbitration clause, rather than its own conduct, in determining whether it waived its right to arbitrate the dispute. But CAC’s position is inconsistent with the standards for waiver set forth by this Court and the federal courts, which uniformly focus on the conduct of the party and its litigation activities.

[T]he presence of [a] ‘no waiver’ clause does not alter the ordinary analysis undertaken to determine if a party has waived its right to arbitration. . . . This makes sense because to allow the ‘no waiver’ clause to preclude a finding of waiver would permit parties to waste scarce judicial time and effort and hamper judges’ authority to control the course of the proceedings and allow parties to test[] the water before taking the swim by delaying assertion of their right to arbitration until the litigation is nearly complete.

Citibank, N.A., 238 W. Va. at 666, 797 S.E.2d at 807 (alterations in original) (quoting *Johnson Assocs. Corp. v. HL Operating Corp.*, 680 F.3d 713, 717 (6th Cir. 2012)).

A party ought not be permitted to contract away a court’s duty to determine whether the rights under the same contract were waived. *See, e.g., Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339 (observing that courts may invalidate agreements to arbitrate by generally applicable contract defenses); *State ex rel. Barden & Robeson Corp.*, 208 W. Va. at 168, 539 S.E.2d at 111 (finding that “[a]rbitration agreements are [as much] enforceable as other contracts, but not more so” (citation omitted)).

To be sure, the arbitration clause at issue in this case preserves the right to arbitrate counterclaims; but counterclaims are just one example of the claims subject to arbitration. The circuit court appropriately evaluated the conduct of CAC, in its totality, in deciding CAC waived its right to arbitrate. Were CAC’s position accepted, it would not only completely upend the doctrine of waiver developed over decades and set an arbitration-specific rule, it would also permit

parties to impose one-sided, unconscionable arbitration agreements. CAC would then be permitted, and indeed perhaps required,⁴ to file its claims in circuit court and pursue them to judgment, but the consumer would be required to arbitrate the claims arising out of the same dispute. It is simply of no moment that the arbitration clause includes counterclaims as a dispute subject to arbitration when CAC waived its right to arbitrate altogether, and the circuit court therefore properly did not consider it. (See Credit Acceptance-Appx. p.298-99 (“The Supreme Court of Appeals instructed the trial court to examine the totality of circumstances when determining whether a party waived the arbitration agreement or not.”).)

CAC voluntarily chose Circuit Court of Jackson County as its preferred forum, and over a three-and-a-half-year period propounded discovery requests, moved for summary judgment, set its Motion for hearing multiple times and agreed to a Scheduling Order setting the case for trial. The repeated and voluntarily actions of CAC unequivocally constitute waiver because “[v]oluntary choice is of the very essence of waiver.” *Hoffman*, 133 W. Va. at 713, 57 S.E.2d at 735. If this does not result in waiver, no litigation conduct could.

The circuit court below was not alone in finding waiver of arbitration rights in these circumstances. Numerous courts have found waivers of arbitration rights after a party avails itself of a judicial forum. *See, e.g., Erdman Co. v. Phx. Land & Acq., L.L.C.*, 650 F.3d 1115 (8th Cir. 2011) (waiver when party initiated lawsuit); *La. Stadium & Exposition Dist. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc.*, 626 F.3d 156, 160 (2d Cir. 2010) (“[B]y filing its lawsuit and

⁴ CAC asserts that it was required to file its claim here in the circuit court because AAA instituted a moratorium on such collection actions. (See Pet.’s Br. 11.) Setting aside the fact that CAC raises this factual claim for the first time in its opening Brief, there is good reason to question the accuracy of the assertion. First, it is not clear from the link provided that CAC’s claim for a deficiency judgment after a repossession is the type of collection action subject to the moratorium. Second, the arbitration agreement also provides that disputes may be arbitrated before JAMS, which does not have any moratorium.

litigating it at length, LSED acted inconsistently with its contractual right to arbitration.”) (citation omitted); *Nicholas v. KBR, Inc.*, 565 F.3d 904, 908 (5th Cir. 2009) (internal citations omitted) (“[T]he decision to file suit typically indicates a ‘disinclination’ to arbitrate. . . . [T]he act of plaintiff filing suit without asserting an arbitration clause constitutes substantial invocation of the judicial process”).⁵

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